IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SAMANTHA BURGESS; ALYSSA SKEENS; GEORGE GROVER; JESSICA HALSTEAD; AND SUNSHINE HOLSTEIN,

Petitioners Below, Petitioners,

v.

ICA EFiled: Apr 04 2023 10:02AM EDT Transaction ID 69724823

Case No. 23-ICA-11 On Appeal from the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, Bureau for Medical Services

THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

Respondent Below, Respondent.

BRIEF OF INDIVIDUAL PETITIONERS

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

(1) The West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, Bureau for Medical Services (hereinafter, "BMS"), in suspending (or failing to suspend only in part) Medicaid payments to or for Petitioners, acted arbitrarily and capriciously by failing to adequately consider the facts of Holistic's billing procedures or federal regulatory provisions under 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(e) in determining whether good cause exists not to suspend Medicaid payments.

(2) BMS, in suspending (or failing to suspend only in part) Medicaid payments to or for Petitioners, has acted arbitrarily and capriciously by failing to provide adequately specific detail of the allegations in its pre-suspension notices to Petitioners.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

This appeal arises from the decision of BMS to suspend all Medicaid payments to Holistic, Inc. (hereinafter, "Holistic") and its employees. Samantha Burgess, Alyssa Skeens, George Grover, Jessica Halstead, and Sunshine Holstein (hereinafter, "Petitioners")² are five individual medical practitioners who, at one point or another, were employed at Holistic. Petitioners' Medicaid payments have been suspended pending the completion of a fraudulent billing investigation by the Medicaid Fraud Control Unit. BMS has asserted that there are "credible allegations of fraud" which justify the Medicaid suspension. Petitioners are now seeking reinstatement of their Medicaid privileges, at least while the investigation is ongoing.

¹ Citations to the Record include the number assigned by Attorney Gary Michels, an abbreviated descriptive title, and page numbers or exhibit designations where applicable.

² In the interest of clarity, it should be understood that this Brief is submitted on behalf of the five individual medical practitioners, and that "Petitioners" refers to them alone, not Holistic.

The crux of Petitioners' argument on appeal is that in suspending (or failing to suspend only in part) Medicaid payments to Petitioners, BMS has acted arbitrarily and capriciously by (1) failing to adequately consider relevant facts concerning Holistic's billing procedures and applicable federal regulations under 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(e), as well as ignoring clear evidence of good cause not to suspend payments; and (2) by failing to elaborate as to the nature of the allegations which form the basis for the investigation.

As providers of medical services to the underserved and vulnerable populations of West Virginia, including treatment for substance abuse, Petitioners are essentially dependent on Medicaid payments to remain financially solvent so as to continue providing these needed services.³ Via letters dated May 2, 2022, each Petitioner received a Notice of Intent to Suspend Medicaid Payments from BMS while employed at Holistic, informing them that their Medicaid payments would be suspended shortly thereafter.⁴ Within these initial Notice Letters, Petitioners were informed that they had an opportunity to challenge the "specific findings in dispute."⁵

R. Booth Goodwin, counsel for Holistic, then requested an administrative hearing from BMS and sought clarification of the allegations—namely, just what BMS's "specific findings" were so that they *could* be challenged.⁶ In response to these requests for clarification, Holistic and Petitioners were met with only more vagueness— Holistic received a second, almost identical Notice Letter reiterating that there was a "credible allegation of fraud."⁷ Also included within this second Notice were short additional statements that there were "allegations of knowingly billing for services never rendered" and that "BMS reviewed all good cause exceptions to payment

³ See Record No. 1, Verified Petition, at pp. 2, 8-9.

⁴ *Id.* at pp. 3-4.

⁵ Record No. 3, Joinder of Writ, at Ex. 1.

⁶ Record No. 1, Verified Petition, at Ex. B, Ex. C, Ex. D.

⁷ *Id*. at p. 4, Ex. D.

suspension allowed by statute and determined none are applicable in this instance."⁸ Within these initial exchanges, BMS neither provided any specific allegations forming the basis for the investigation or suspension nor did it give any explanation as to why it found there was no good cause not to suspend payments.⁹

With the suspension looming and with no indication from BMS regarding a date for an administrative hearing, Petitioners joined in Holistic's Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County.¹⁰ When BMS filed its Response in Opposition to the Petition for Writ of Prohibition, BMS disclosed to Petitioners both the Investigation Report and Medicaid Fraud Referral Form.¹¹ After multiple filings and arguments,¹² the Circuit Court ultimately denied the Petition for a Writ.¹³

Following the Writ proceedings, Petitioners sought administrative review of the suspension decision before the West Virginia DHHR. Petitioners initially sought a Document/Desk Review Decision from BMS, which upheld the suspension.¹⁴ Petitioners then challenged the Desk Review Decision via a request for a hearing, which was conducted before Hearing Examiner Lewis Brewer.¹⁵ The Examiner also upheld the suspension, finding that BMS's suspension decision was not arbitrary and capricious.¹⁶ The Examiner's Recommended Decision was formally adopted by BMS on December 7, 2022.¹⁷

⁸ Id.

⁹ See e.g., *id.* at pp. 4-5, Ex. A, Ex. D.

¹⁰ See *id.;* Record No. 2, Joinder of Writ.

¹¹ Record. No. 6, BMS Response in Opposition, Ex. 2, Ex. 3. *See also* Record No. 10, Holistic Reply, at p. 3 ("[U]ntil BMS filed its brief in opposition, BMS had not even provided Holistic with even a single example of a fraud allegation to which Holistic could respond.").

¹² See generally Record Nos. 1-10.

¹³ See Record No. 11, Final Order.

¹⁴ See generally Record No. 12, Document Desk Review.

¹⁵ See generally Record No. 18, Hearing Examiner's Recommended Decision; No. 19, Transcript.

¹⁶ Record No. 18, Hearing Examiner's Recommended Decision, at pp. 16-20.

¹⁷ Record No. 20, Letter from Commissioner Beane.

Petitioners now bring this appeal of the Examiner's Decision seeking reinstatement of their Medicaid privileges (at the very least during the pendency of the fraud investigation) and reversal of the Hearing Examiner's Decision.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In suspending Petitioners' Medicaid payments, BMS has acted arbitrarily and capriciously in two primary ways.

First, BMS has obstinately refused to perform its federally imposed obligation to evaluate the existence of good cause to not suspend (or to suspend only partially) Medicaid payments to Petitioners under 42 C.F.R. §455.23. Clear evidence of good cause not to suspend exists in this case, such as, for example, the fact that *four out of the five* Petitioners were not even employed by Holistic during the time of the billing noted in the Investigation Report. Additionally, BMS's initial correspondence with Petitioners also practically admits that it did not perform this necessary evaluation before deciding to suspend Petitioners' Medicaid privileges. Further, even if a suspension in some form were warranted, BMS has gone much further than necessary in refusing to consider good cause for only a partial suspension. Finally, BMS's refusal to adequately address the good cause issue has now left Petitioners subject to an impermissible "indefinite" suspension in violation of their statutory and constitutional rights.

Second, BMS's notice to Petitioners of the allegations of fraud levied against them was woefully deficient. BMS's failure to elaborate on the nature of the allegations against Petitioners has both deprived Petitioners of the ability to adequately respond to the allegations and has essentially allowed BMS to strip Petitioners of their livelihoods while avoiding accountability for its decisions. It is fundamentally unfair for BMS to suspend the Medicaid privileges of these five individuals, who had nothing more to do with the billing process than to report to Holistic the services they provided to its patients.

Therefore, for these reasons and the more detailed ones to follow, this Court should reverse the administrative decision below, find that BMS's actions were indeed arbitrary and capricious, and reinstate Petitioners' Medicaid privileges.

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument in this appeal is necessary as (1) no party has waived oral argument; (2) this appeal is not frivolous; (3) the dispositive issues have not been authoritatively decided; and (4) the decisional process in this appeal would be significantly aided by oral argument.¹⁸

Petitioners respectfully request this Court to set oral argument under Rule 19 for three primary reasons. First, this appeal concerns an administrative decision made by BMS that was contrary to the weight of the evidence as demonstrated within the Record. Second, this appeal involves a narrow issue of law, as only one federal regulation is meaningfully at play within the case. The third reason is in the alternative. If this Court preliminarily determines that the law governing BMS's exercise of discretion in this case is "settled," then Petitioners argue that this case presents a situation where BMS's conduct constitutes an "unsustainable exercise of discretion."¹⁹

This case is likely not appropriate for a memorandum decision, as Petitioners are requesting the reversal of a lower tribunal's decision.²⁰ Furthermore, it would likely be highly beneficial for the lower tribunals in West Virginia to receive detailed guidance on the obligations imposed on

¹⁸ See W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a).

¹⁹ W. Va. R. App. P. 19(a).

²⁰ W. Va. R. App. P 21(d) ("A memorandum decision reversing the decision of a lower tribunal should be issued in limited circumstances.").

the WV DHHR under 42 C.F.R. § 455.23, as there is currently no robust body of case law on this particular regulation anywhere, much less in West Virginia. Additionally, the issues presented within this appeal have the potential for far-reaching impact on the Medicaid program, on BMS procedure, and on medical providers in West Virginia and beyond.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This appeal arises from the Recommended Decision of a Hearing Examiner for BMS. A West Virginia Appellate Court is to review an administrative body's findings of fact under a clearly erroneous standard, while employing a *de novo* standard on its legal determinations.²¹ An agency's action is "arbitrary and capricious," and therefore unlawful, "if the agency relies on factors that Congress did not intend for it to consider, entirely ignores important aspects of the problem, explains its decision in a manner contrary to the evidence before it, or reaches a decision that is so implausible that it cannot be ascribed to a difference in view."²²

For the reasons that follow, BMS has acted arbitrarily and capriciously as it has entirely ignored the aspects of the notice and good cause requirements mandated by federal law.

²¹ Alcan Rolled Products Ravenswood, LLC v. McCarthy, 234 W. Va. 312, 765 S.E.2d 201 (2013).

²² Bedford County Mem'l Hosp. v. Health & Human Services, 769 F.2d 1017, 1022 (4th Cir. 1985). See also Record No. 18, Hearing Examiner's Recommended Decision, at p. 17.

B. BMS Acted Arbitrarily and Capriciously by Failing to Adequately Consider the Factors Relevant to a Finding of Good Cause Not to Suspend, or to Suspend Only in Part, Medicaid Payments to Petitioners.

1. BMS Has Not Considered the Factors Relating to Good Cause Not to Suspend Payments, as Evidenced by the Clear Evidence of Good Cause in this Case.

Federal regulations require a State Medicaid agency to suspend Medicaid payments to providers where the agency determines that a "credible allegation of fraud for which an investigation is pending" exists.²³ However, this mandate comes with a very important caveat: the agency is required to suspend payments "*unless* the agency has good cause to not suspend payments or to suspend payment only in part."²⁴ The State Medicaid agency seeking to suspend a provider's Medicaid payments *must* first consider whether good cause exists *before* implementing the suspension.²⁵ In other words, while the decision of whether a good cause exception *justifies* a decision not to suspend payments might be discretionary, the actual *performance of the evaluation* of whether good cause exists is mandatory.²⁶

The same regulation also provides six very specific factors for the agency to consider in determining whether good cause not to suspend exists.²⁷ They are:

Good cause not to suspend payments. A State may find that good cause exists not to suspend payments, or not to continue a payment suspension previously imposed, to an individual or entity against which there is an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud if any of the following are applicable:

²³ 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(a)(1).

²⁴ *Id.* (emphasis added).

²⁵ See Victoria Transcultural Clinical Center, VTCC v. Kimsey, 477 F. Supp.3d 457, 464 (E.D. Va. 2020) ("Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. § 455.23, where, as here, there is a credible allegation of fraud, DMAS [the Virginia State Medicaid agency] is *required* to suspend Medicaid payments, *unless one of the regulatory good cause exceptions is found to exist.*" (bold and italic emphasis in original, additional italic emphasis added).

²⁶ See id. ("DMAS correctly notes that whether a good cause exception justifies not suspending payments is left to the discretion of the state.")

²⁷ 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(e).

(1) Law enforcement officials have specifically requested that a payment suspension not be imposed because such a payment suspension may compromise or jeopardize an investigation.

(2) Other available remedies implemented by the State more effectively or quickly protect Medicaid funds.

(3) The State determines, based upon the submission of written evidence by the individual or entity that is the subject of the payment suspension, that the suspension should be removed.

(4) Beneficiary access to items or services would be jeopardized by a payment suspension because of either of the following:

(i) An individual or entity is the sole community physician or the sole source of essential specialized services in a community.

(ii) The individual or entity serves a large number of beneficiaries within a HRSA–designated medically underserved area.

(5) Law enforcement declines to certify that a matter continues to be under investigation per the requirements of paragraph (d)(3) of this section.

(6) The State determines that payment suspension is not in the best interests of the Medicaid program.²⁸

Here, even when considering its discretionary power, BMS still cannot "entirely ignore aspects of the problem."²⁹ Frankly, BMS has "ignored the problem" at every stage of the proceedings amongst the parties so far; BMS has therefore acted arbitrarily and capriciously by refusing to recognize, or even consider, clear evidence of good cause to withhold suspension under five of the above six factors.³⁰

Before analyzing the good cause factors, Petitioners would first point out that BMS's own initial correspondence with Petitioners belies their assertions that these factors were ever

²⁸ Id.

²⁹ Bedford, 769 F.2d at 1022. See also Record No. 18, Hearing Examiner's Recommended Decision, at p. 19.

 $^{^{30}}$ At this juncture, Petitioners do not contest Respondent's assertion that law enforcement officers have certified that the fraud investigation is ongoing. *See* Record No. 15, Affidavit of Andrew Pack, at ¶ 9.

considered before the suspension. In the first Notice Letters dated May 2, there was no analysis *whatsoever* of these factors.³¹ It was only *after* Holistic demanded clarification³² that BMS sent a new letter with the conclusory and unenlightening statement that "BMS has reviewed all good cause exceptions to payment suspension allowed by statute and determined that none are applicable in this instance."³³ This later addition to the Notice is all but an admission by BMS that it failed to consider these factors before issuing the suspension, and shows that it hastily tried to cover up its mistake in the second letter.

As to the first good cause factor, law enforcement officers did at one point recommend that the suspension not be imposed, because this recommendation was later lifted.³⁴ While the Fraud Control Unit may have later rescinded this recommendation, it is an indication that the Unit, at least initially, believed that this was a case where suspension was not warranted. Petitioners would posit that the Unit had it right the first time.

In response to the second factor, BMS states that, due to the "nature of the allegations of fraud," there are no alternative remedies to suspension.³⁵ As a preliminary matter, if BMS did indeed have information as to the "nature of the allegations of fraud," as Mr. Pack has averred, then it was required to share that information with Petitioners in its Notice Letters which were sent to them.³⁶

Furthermore, Mr. Pack's averment is untrue. Petitioners have consistently pointed out the availability of alternative remedies to a suspension. Petitioners and Holistic demonstrated both

³¹ See e.g., Record No. 1, Verified Petition, at Ex. A.

³² *Id.* at Ex. B.

³³ *Id.* at Ex. D.

³⁴ Record No. 15, Pack Affidavit, at ¶ 5 ("The Law Enforcement Exception to payment suspension is not applicable because the West Virginia Medicaid Fraud Control Unit ('MFCU') *lifted* the request not to proceed with the payment suspension.") (emphasis added).

 $^{^{35}}$ *Id.* at ¶ 6.

³⁶ See Section VII.D, infra.

their ability and willingness to submit to prepayment review processes (as opposed to a suspension of payments) with The Health Plan.³⁷ Additionally, BMS has not provided any evidence as to improper billing that is specifically attributable to the conduct of Petitioners, likely because Petitioners did not actually perform the billing while they were employed at Holistic.³⁸ Accordingly, there is no reason why, going forward, Petitioners could not be permitted to bill individually under their own NPI numbers and have their submissions for payment reviewed distinctly from Holistic's, or why they could not submit for Medicaid payments while employed elsewhere.

In fact, it appears that BMS's Medicaid suspension practices have grown even more draconian since its suspension decisions were overruled in *Pressley Ridge*.³⁹ Rather than use the pre- or post- payment review processes available to it under 42 C.F.R. § 447.45, it seems that BMS now prefers the "scorched earth" approach to suspensions and has instead opted to just *suspend first and ask questions later*.

To the third factor, because BMS stubbornly refuses to elaborate on the allegations of fraud, Petitioners are effectively prevented from submitting any written documentation rebutting said allegations. Put simply, if BMS does not give Petitioners something to respond to, then they cannot respond. It is this factor that most accurately captures Petitioners' entire argument: how can Petitioners contest the "specific findings in dispute," which BMS informed them it was their right to do, if they do not even know what the "specific findings" are?⁴⁰

³⁷ See Record No. 1, Verified Petition, at p. 9-10.

³⁸ See Record No. 10, Holistic Reply, at Ex. H ¶ 7 (Affidavit of Shawn Blankenship).

³⁹ See Pressley Ridge Schools, Inc. v. Stottlemeyer, 947 F. Supp. 929, 940 (S.D. W. Va. 1996). For a discussion of this case and its implications, see Section VII.C, *infra*.

⁴⁰ See Record No. 1, Verified Petition, at Ex. A.

By extension, this reality is also evidence that BMS failed to consider this factor before it suspended the payments. If Petitioners were not afforded the opportunity to provide "written documentation" for BMS to evaluate and either accept or reject, then this factor could not have been considered when BMS made the suspension decision.

In spite of BMS's reticence, Petitioners, on multiple occasions, provided persuasive written evidence that the suspension should be removed. Specifically, the owner of Holistic, Shawn Blankenship, attested via affidavit that the employees at Holistic *were not actually the ones billing for services rendered there*—billing was handled by a professional third-party.⁴¹

Perhaps the most significant fact to consider in regard to this factor, however, is that *four out of the five Petitioners were not even employed at Holistic* during the time period in which BMS alleges the fraud occurred.⁴² Therefore, Petitioners did not even have to provide documentation to BMS to show that good cause existed. BMS already had all the documentation it needed to make that determination; it just refused to acknowledge it. BMS has therefore suspended the Medicaid payments of four of the Petitioners for billing events that were *literally impossible for them to have participated in.*

Fourth, while employed at Holistic, Petitioners provided much-needed medical services to a consistently vulnerable and needy population. Petitioners almost cannot believe that they have to point this out to the Bureau for *Medical* Services, but West Virginia has *far and above* the highest mortality rate in the nation in the nation for drug overdoses,⁴³ and this crisis has only gotten

⁴¹ See Record No. 10, Holistic Reply, at Ex. H ¶ 7.

 $^{^{42}}$ See Record No. 6, BMS Response in Opposition, at Ex. 3. The dates of the alleged conduct were reported to have occurred from 12/1/2015 through 11/30/2018.

⁴³ https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/pressroom/sosmap/drug_poisoning_mortality/drug_poisoning.htm (last visited March 30, 2023). According to the 2020 data, West Virginia's opioid mortality rate is 81.4, almost double that of Kentucky, which has the next-highest rate at 49.2.

worse in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic.⁴⁴ West Virginia needs "all hands on deck" to combat this crisis, and every provider of substance abuse services is a necessary one. For Cynthia Parsons, the BMS *Program Director for Behavioral Health Services*, to suggest that suspending Petitioners' services would not jeopardize access to this type of care is almost laughable and borders on the intellectually dishonest.⁴⁵

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