#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SAMANTHA BURGESS; ALYSSA SKEENS;

ICA EFiled: May 19 2023

10:35AM EDT

GEORGE GROVER; JESSICA HALSTEAD; AND

**Transaction ID 70046651** 

SUNSHINE HOLSTEIN,

PETITIONERS BELOW, PETITIONERS,

V.

**CASE NO. 23-ICA-11** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT
OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES,
BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

RESPONDENT BELOW, RESPONDENT.

RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

Mar. 6, 2023) (memorandum decision) ("We are not in a position to reweigh said evidence at the appellate stage."); *Curry v. W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd.*, 236 W. Va. 188, 191, 778 S.E.2d 637, 640 (2015) ("Pursuant to the arbitrary and capricious standard, a ... court reviewing the factual findings of an administrative agency must 'not substitute its judgment for that of the hearing examiner.""). Therefore, the decision of the Hearing Examiner should not be disturbed on appeal.

# III. BMS did not act arbitrarily or capriciously by suspending Medicaid Payments and the suspension is not an indefinite suspension.

Counsel for the Petitioners argues that the suspension of Medicaid payments is an indefinite suspension. However, that is simply not the case. 42 CFR § 455.23(d) (emphasis added). **expressly indicates** that if the MFCU accepts the fraud referral for investigation, the payment suspension is allowed to continue "until such time as the investigation *and any associated enforcement proceedings* are completed." 42 CFR §455.23(d)(3)(i) (emphasis added); *see also* 42 CFR §455.23(c)(1)(ii). However, if the MFCU declines to investigate the fraud referral from BMS, then the suspension of payments must end. 42 CFR §455.23(d)(4). There is no dispute that Holistic and the Individual Providers are currently being investigated by the West Virginia Medicaid Fraud Control Unit ("MFCU") for fraud and that the investigation is still ongoing.

Although *Pressley Ridge Schools, Inc. v. Stottlemeyer*, 947 F. Supp. 929 (S.D. W.Va. 1996), is cited by the Petitioners it simply does not apply to the current case. In *Pressley Ridge*, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia found that BMS had violated an older version of 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 by using the prepayment and postpayment provisions in 42 CFR § 447.45(f) to suspend payments to the provider indefinitely. The Court also held that BMS violated 42 U.S.C. § 1396(a)(37)(B) and Section 764.1 of its own Medicaid Regulations when it refused to grant Pressley Ridge an administrative hearing that Pressley Ridge had requested on the "Bureau's decision to impose prepayment review of Pressley Ridge's Behavioral Management

Services claims and to pend payments indefinitely for those services represented by the claims." *Id.*, at 939. Moreover, the Court held that BMS violated 42 U.S.C. §1396(a)(30) by retroactively applying a prepayment review process to Pressley Ridge's claims that materially differed from the process that was spelled out in the BMS manual.

The language set forth in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 has been substantially amended during the 27 years since the *Pressley Ridge* case was decided. Most importantly, the language contained in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(a) that was cited in the *Pressley Ridge* case indicated that BMS State Medicaid agencies "**may** withhold Medicaid payments, in whole or in part, to a provider upon receipt of reliable evidence that the circumstances giving rise to the need for a withholding of payments involve fraud or willful misrepresentation under the Medicaid program." Based on the use of the word "may" in the older version of the regulation, BMS was vested in 1996 with the *discretion* to withhold payments or not withhold payments to providers even if it was in receipt of "reliable evidence" that "fraud or willful misrepresentation" was involved.

By comparison, the language currently set forth in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(a) clearly demonstrates that BMS had a mandatory legal <u>obligation</u> to suspend payments to Holistic and the Individual Providers after it determined that there was "a credible allegation of fraud" against them. This regulatory change was promulgated by the HHS Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") on February 2, 2011,<sup>2</sup> as part of its implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (Public Law 111-148) ("ACA"), which Congress had passed in March 2010. As the OIG noted in announcing its Final Rule, "We proposed to implement section 6402(h)(2) of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pressley Ridge, at 940, quoting 42 C.F.R. §455.23 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Medicare, Medicaid, and Children's Health Insurance Programs; Additional Screening Requirements, Application Fees, Temporary Enrollment Moratoria, Payment Suspensions and Compliance Plans for Providers and Suppliers, 76 FR 5862-01 (February 2, 2011).

the ACA by modifying the existing § 455.23(a) to make payment suspensions mandatory where an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud under the Medicaid program exists."<sup>3</sup>

Although the language currently found in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(e) vests BMS with the discretion not to suspend such payments to providers if it determines that "good cause" exists not to do so, as noted above, the agency has no legal obligation to do so. And as the OIG noted in its Final Rule in discussing this subsection of the amended regulation: "Consistent with the new ACA provision, we also proposed to create several "good cause" exceptions by which States may determine good cause exists not to suspend payments or to suspend payments only in part." In short, even if "good cause" not to suspend payments to Holistic and the Individual Providers arguably existed in the case at bar despite the existence of an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud, BMS was vested with the discretion to suspend the payments anyway.

In the case at bar, the suspension is not an indefinite one and has only continued because the MFCU investigation is still ongoing. It also must be noted that, unlike what transpired in the Pressley Ridge case, BMS did not refuse to grant the Petitioners an administrative hearing. As stated in the Final Order from Judge Bloom, BMS voluntarily agreed to fast track the administrative review process and to conduct an administrative hearing in early August 2022. (D.R. 207-208). The first step of the administrative review process is a document desk review ("DDR") which was conducted by BMS on August 12, 2022. (D.R. 212-214) The Petitioners disagreed with the DDR decision and requested an administrative hearing which was conducted on August 18, 2022. (D.R. 265)

Therefore, BMS has complied with all the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 in suspending the Medicaid payments to the Petitioner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id.*, at 5932.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.*, at 5933.

# IV. BMS did not act arbitrarily or capriciously and provided Petitioners with the required detail of the allegations that led to the suspension of Medicaid Payments.

42 C.F.R. § 455.23 only requires BMS to "set forth the *general allegations* as to the nature of the suspension action," and expressly <u>does not</u> require BMS to disclose "any specific information concerning an ongoing investigation." 42 CFR §455.23(b)(2)(ii) (emphasis added). This provision is consistent with the MFCU's concurrent duty to protect the privacy rights of individuals who provide the Unit with sensitive information related to its investigations that is established both in the federal regulations and the West Virginia Code. *See* 42 C.F.R. §1007.11(f) and W.Va. Code §9-7-3(d).

Petitioners insist that BMS should have provided them more information, but the Court of Appeals of Mississippi has explained well why more substantial information is not required to be disclosed in a case like this one. In *NSCH Rural Health Clinic v. Snyder*, 321 So. 3d 565, 571–72 (Miss. Ct. App. 2020), that court held that:

"the fraud allegations were referred to the Medicaid fraud unit at the Mississippi Attorney General's Office. Further, there is no authority within the relevant federal or state regulations that requires the ((Mississippi Division of Medicaid (DOM)) to provide an administrative hearing concerning the sufficiency of the initial allegations of fraud or to disclose any specific information regarding the fraud allegations under investigation. Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(b)(2), the DOM was required to give North Sunflower notice of the suspension to include only general allegations but not to disclose any specific allegations concerning the ongoing investigation. The regulation's obvious goal was to protect the integrity and confidentiality of an ongoing criminal investigation. To hold otherwise could potentially undermine the ongoing criminal investigation being conducted by the Attorney General's Office. Pursuant to both federal and state regulations, the DOM referred the allegations of fraud to the MFCU, gave North Sunflower the appropriate notice, and suspended reimbursements pending the outcome of that investigation. North Sunflower's assertion that the DOM's actual decision to refer the allegations of fraud was subject to judicial review is without merit. Given the fact that both federal and state regulations mandated the DOM's referral of the allegations to the MFCU, its actions in that regard were certainly within the

parameters set forth in the law." *NSCH Rural Health Clinic v. Snyder*, 321 So. 3d 565, 571–72 (Miss. Ct. App. 2020)(emphasis added).

The facts in *NSCH* are very similar to the instant case in that both cases started with fraud allegations being referred to MFCU and ultimately ended with Medicaid payments to the provider being stopped while the fraud investigation was ongoing. However, BMS went a step further than the DOM took in *NSCH* by providing the Petitioners with detailed information contained in the Report of Investigation Case Summary prepared by Investigator Young, as noted by the Hearing Examiner on page 17 of his recommended decision. (D.R. 281) *See also Consumer Directed Choices, Inc. v. N.Y. State Off. of Medicaid Inspector Gen.*, 90 A.D.3d 1271, 1272, 935 N.Y.S.2d 352, 353 (2011) (holding that a suspension notice contained "a proper description of the reason for the withholding" where the notice merely informed the entity that it was under investigation for claims that resulted in a substantial overpayment).

Petitioners think this case is a repeat of Alexandre v. Ill. Dept. of Healthcare & Family Services, No. 20 C 6745, 2021 WL 4206792, (N.D. Ill. Sept. 15, 2021), but that case is distinguishable. There, the Illinois' Medicaid agency ("HFS") suspended Dr. Alexandre Medicaid payments for approximately three years pending an investigation for fraud. Id at 1. The court held that HFS had violated Dr. Alexandre's due process rights by suspending her payments "without providing any substantive information about the purported 'billing irregularities' on which the suspension [was] based." Id. at 10. It appears that the only information HFS provided to Dr. Alexandre was a notification that billing irregularities had been detected in her practice. Id. at 1. Dr. Alexandre filed suit against HFS in regards to the lack of information concerning the allegations, and HFS responded with a short email stating that "the investigation remains actively ongoing and pertains to a variety of fraud allegations, including allegations of receiving kickbacks and administering expired vaccines." Id at 1-2.

In the case at bar, BMS provided the Petitioners' with a Report of Investigation Case Summary ("Investigation Report") prepared by Investigator Audrey Young and the Medicaid Fraud Referral Form. (D.R. 97-103). The Investigation Report reviews eight medical records with eight hundred and sixty two dates of service with the data "showing a consistent trend of billing patients a drug screen test (80307, alcohol breath screen test (82075), E&M (99213, 99214), preventative medicine counseling, (99401, 99402) and tobacco cessation counseling (99406, 99407." (D.R. 97) Investigator Young noted that the above referenced billing codes were repeated weekly for the eight patients and that there appeared to be a high trend of high daily volume for time-based codes and potential for impossible day billing. (D.R. 97) The Investigation Report also noted that there were occasions where a female patient who had previously undergone a hysterectomy had pregnancy test performed and another patient that was tested for pregnancy weekly. (D.R. 98) Investigator Young reached the conclusion that "a review of the eight, (8) individual spreadsheets will show occasions where there were two, (2) E&M codes billed on the same date of service for the same patient by two, (2) different provider, Dr. Bacha and Mr. Blankenship." (D.R. 98) Lastly, Investigator Young found that "there will also be numerous dates of services for counseling services where there is no documentation at all, no date documented, no time documented, no topic of counseling documented, and no signature of who provided the counseling....On many occasion, the documentation provided by Mr. Blankenship did not support the claims that Holistic billed." (D.R. 98-99) Thus, unlike the agency in Alexandre, BMS has provided detailed information regarding the billing irregularities and allegations of fraud.

As the Hearing Examiner correctly stated in his recommended decision, BMS' determination "that there has been a credible allegation of fraud must be made in good faith, and nor arbitrarily and capriciously." (D.R. 280).

Again, BMS provided the Petitioners with detailed information from Investigator Young and the Hearing Examiner correctly found that Director Andrew Pack's determination that there was a credible allegation of fraud was not arbitrary or capricious in any regard. (D.R. 281) The Hearing Examiner also found that "it is permissible to base an allegation on data analysis that reveals aberrant billing practices that appear unjustifiable based upon normal business practices" (D.R. 281). Further, as noted by the Hearing Examiner, "nothing in federal law extends a property right in Medicaid reimbursements to a provider that is the subject of a fraud investigation." *quoting Personal Care Products, Inc. v. Hawkins*, 635 F.3d 155, 159 (5th Cir. 2011); *See also ABA, Inc. v. Dist. Of Columbia*, 40 F. Supp 3d 153, 167 (D.D.C. 2014). 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 gives BMS sole discretion to decide if Medicaid payments may continue while an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud is ongoing.

At bottom, Petitioners vehemently disagree with the allegations against them. So be it. But BMS is not required at this early stage to prove all the facts that might ultimately support the allegations against Petitioners; the idea that Petitioners should receive "particularized" allegations, for example, is not supported by one bit of cited authority. It is enough that Petitioners be informed of the sort of "general" information upon which the allegations rest. Questions like those Petitioners press here can be answered during the course of the investigation and, if necessary, at the time of any appropriate trial. The only question here is whether Petitioners have received the minimal notice required to institute this preliminary suspension process.

Therefore, the Hearing Examiner's recommended decision should not be disturbed on appeal.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth herein, Respondent prays that this Honorable Court will deny the Petition for Appeal and prays for such further relief as this Honorable Court deems fit and proper.